Daniel Wu Førrisdahl Åsa Lerum

Assessment of the user experience by parents of the novel mHealth technology Picterus JP to detect neonatal jaundice in a low-income setting in Mexico

Graduate thesis in Medicine Supervisor: Lobke Gierman Co-supervisor: Elodie Besnier and Gabriela Jiménez Díaz January 2023

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences



Daniel Wu Førrisdahl Åsa Lerum

Assessment of the user experience by parents of the novel mHealth technology Picterus JP to detect neonatal jaundice in a low-income setting in Mexico

Graduate thesis in Medicine Supervisor: Lobke Gierman Co-supervisor: Elodie Besnier and Gabriela Jiménez Díaz January 2023

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences



Abstract

Background: Neonatal jaundice is usually harmless but may, if it is not timely detected, lead to permanent neurological deficits and in the worst cases death. The disease burden is greatest in low- and middle-income countries, partly due to low availability and high cost of medical devices used to detect the condition. Picterus JP (Picterus Jaundice Pro) is a low-cost smartphone-based mHealth solution intended for use by parents/caregivers and health care workers for the detection of neonatal jaundice. No previous studies have investigated the user experience of Picterus JP among parents in a low-income setting.

Research aims: The main aim of this project was to explore and compare parents' user experience with the mHealth smartphone app Picterus JP in an urban and a rural low-income setting in Mexico. The secondary aim of this project was to explore and compare the self-reported level of knowledge of jaundice among the same parents.

Research methods: Data collection was performed in the state of Oaxaca, Mexico, from August to September 2022. The user experience of Picterus JP and the level of knowledge about jaundice among the participants were assessed through a paper-based questionnaire. Parents of newborns and pregnant women were invited to participate in the study at an urban clinic and a rural hospital. After the data collection period, we analysed the distribution of responses using quantitative methods. Mann-Whitney U test was applied to explore whether there was a statistically significant difference between the two study sites.

Results: A total of n=96 questionnaires were used for data analysis. Among these, n=47 were collected from an urban clinic, and the remaining n=49 from a rural hospital. According to our results, the study participants were on average satisfied with the usability and utility of Picterus JP. The participants from the urban clinic were overall more positive towards the app compared to the ones from the rural hospital. In regard to knowledge about jaundice, 52,1 % (n=50) of the participants had never heard about the condition. Furthermore, our data analysis revealed that the level of knowledge was systematically lower at the rural hospital.

Conclusion: Our study revealed that the participants generally had a good user experience with Picterus JP, although this finding must be understood in the context of this study's limitations. Therefore, we think that the app has great potential to be used in a low-income setting like Oaxaca, but that it needs improvements to serve people with limited experience with mobile technology.

Acknowledgements

We would like to express our gratitude and appreciation to our supervisors Lobke Gierman, Elodie Besnier and Gabriela Jiménez Díaz for their guidance, support and help throughout the project.

We want to thank Picterus AS for the use of equipment during the data collection period.

Lastly, we are deeply grateful to the staff at IMSS Clinic for Family Medicine No. 65 and IMSS-Bienestar Hospital for Rural Solidarity in Oaxaca, Mexico. Thank you so much for your assistance, cooperation and kindness.

Table of contents

Abstract	1
Acknowledgements	2
Table of contents	3
List of abbreviations	5
1. Introduction	6
2. Background	7
2.1 Neonatal jaundice	7
2.1.1 Metabolism of bilirubin	7
2.1.2 Physiologic neonatal jaundice	8
2.1.3 Pathological neonatal jaundice	9
2.1.4 Severe hyperbilirubinemia and its treatment	9
2.1.5 Methods for detecting neonatal jaundice	10
2.2 mHealth	11
2.2.1 Types of mHealth	12
2.2.2 Implementation of mHealth in developing countries	12
2.3 Picterus JP	13
2.3.1 The technology behind Picterus JP	13
2.3.2 Previous studies and gaps in the field regarding mHealth solutions for detec neonatal jaundice	-
2.4 The Mexican context	15
2.4.1 Socioeconomic challenges in Mexico	15
2.4.2 The Mexican health care system	16
2.4.3 IMSS and IMSS-Bienestar	17
2.4.4 Neonatal jaundice in Mexico	17
3. Research aims	18
4. Research methods	18
4.1 Research questions	18
4.2 Preparations	19
4.2.1 The questionnaire, information sheet and consent form	19
4.2.2 The study sites in Oaxaca, Mexico	19
4.3 Inclusion criteria	21
4.4 Exclusion criteria	21
4.5 Recruitment and procedure	22

4.6 Data analysis	23
4.7 Ethical approval and personal data storage	24
5. Results	25
5.1 The user experience of Picterus JP	
5.1.1 The user experience among all the participants	
5.1.2 Comparison of the user experience among the participants at the urba rural study sites	
5.2 The level of knowledge about jaundice	29
5.2.1 The level of knowledge about jaundice among all the participants	29
5.2.2 Comparison of the level of knowledge about jaundice among the parti- the urban and the rural study sites	-
6. Discussion	
6.1 Main findings	
6.1.1 The user experience	
6.1.2 The level of knowledge about jaundice	32
6.2 Strengths and limitations	33
6.2.1 The study population	33
6.2.2. The recruitment process and procedure	
6.2.3 The questionnaire	35
7. Contribution to science and further recommendations	37
8. Recommendations for developers of Picterus JP	38
9. Conclusion	38
References	40
Appendices	44

List of abbreviations

BIE Bilirubin induced encephalopathy eHealth Electronic health **G6PD** Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase **GDPR** General Data Protection Regulation GPS Global Positioning System HAQ Healthcare Access and Quality **IMSS** Mexican Institute of Social Security **INSABI** Institute of Health for Wellbeing **ISSSTE** Institute for Social Security and Services for State Employees LMIC Low- and middle-income country MAUQ mHealth App Usability Questionnaire mHealth Mobile health neoSCB Neonatal scleralconjunctival bilirubinometer NSD Norwegian Centre for Research data NTNU Norwegian University of Science and Technology **OECD** Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Picterus JP Picterus Jaundice Pro **RBC** Red blood cell **TcB** Transcutaneous bilirubinometer **TSB** Total serum bilirubin **UGT** Uridine diphosphate-glucuronosyltransferase WHO World Health Organization WiFi Wireless Fidelity

1. Introduction

Neonatal jaundice – also known as icterus or hyperbilirubinemia – affects the majority of newborns during their first week of life. The condition is predominantly self-limiting and harmless but may lead to permanent neurological deficits and death if not timely detected (1). Globally, approximately 114 000 infants die each year due to delayed diagnosis and treatment of severe cases of neonatal jaundice. The burden is greatest in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), partly due to low availability and high cost of medical devices used to detect the condition (2).

A multidisciplinary group of researchers in the Norwegian company Picterus AS has developed a smartphone app for detecting neonatal jaundice called Picterus JP (Picterus Jaundice Pro) (3). The app is intended for use by parents/care givers and health care workers in LMICs. Picterus JP has proven to be a sensitive and accurate screening device for neonatal jaundice, and a recent study revealed a want from health care workers in Nigeria to implement the app in their daily workflow (4). However, no research has been done on the user experience of the app among parents in LMICs.

Our thesis assessed the user experience of parents with Picterus JP in a low-income setting in Mexico, and their knowledge of jaundice. Participants were recruited from an urban and a rural study site in the state of Oaxaca, Mexico, and their responses have been compared.

This study was part of the PhD project JAUND-EASE (Health service innovation of neonatal jaundice detection by mHealth technology in a low-income setting: user-centred implementation project in Mexico), led by PhD candidate Dr Gabriela Jiménez Díaz. The main objective of JAUND-EASE is to innovate the health service for neonatal jaundice detection by contextually implementing the novel mHealth technology Picterus JP and assess its usability and user experience compared to standard care for neonatal jaundice detection in low-resource settings in Mexico.

2. Background

2.1 Neonatal jaundice

Neonatal jaundice is one of the most frequent reasons for readmission to hospital after birth (5, 6). As much as 80 % of preterm and 60 % of term neonates develop jaundice within the first week of life (1). The term neonatal jaundice does not refer to a singular disease but rather the physical finding of yellow discolouration of the neonate's skin, sclera, mucous membrane and other tissues caused by elevated levels of bilirubin (1).

Neonatal jaundice can be harmless or harmful depending on its aetiology and the degree of bilirubin increase (7). The condition is usually a benign and transient event due to various characteristics of neonatal physiology. However, for various physiologic and pathologic reasons, some newborns develop severe hyperbilirubinemia, which puts them at risk for developing bilirubin induced encephalopathy (BIE). BIE ranges from slight behavioural changes to severe and lifelong neurological impairment and death (8, 9). Hence, early detection and warranted preventative therapy of severe hyperbilirubinemia is crucial, particularly in underdeveloped countries where the occurrence of BIE is greatest (9).

2.1.1 Metabolism of bilirubin

Approximately 80 % of bilirubin is derived from the breakdown of red blood cells (RBCs), while the remaining 20 % comes from non-erythroid heme-containing proteins found in various tissues (10). Macrophages of the reticuloendothelial system are responsible for the breakdown of senescent RBCs and heme production through haemoglobin catabolism (10, 11). Heme is then converted to biliverdin, which in turn is reduced to unconjugated bilirubin. Unconjugated bilirubin is insoluble in water and binds tightly to albumin for transportation to the liver. Once in the liver, unconjugated bilirubin becomes water soluble through conjugation by the enzyme uridine diphosphate-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT). This alteration enables the excretion of bilirubin into the duodenum as part of bile (10, 12).

In the colon, bilirubin is deconjugated by bacteria into urobilinogen. The majority of urobilinogen is further converted into stercobilin and eliminated through faeces. The remaining either become part of so-called enterohepatic circulation - where urobilinogen is transported back to the liver and recycled for bile production - or excreted as urobilin in the urine (12).

2.1.2 Physiologic neonatal jaundice

The physiological type of neonatal jaundice accounts for 75 % of the cases. It starts after 24 hours of age and typically peaks around 48-96 hours before resolving within 2-3 weeks in full-term infants (1). Physiological jaundice is due to several characteristics of the neonates, where their immature physiology makes them more vulnerable to developing elevated levels of unconjugated bilirubin (unconjugated hyperbilirubinemia). Even in healthy neonates, the bilirubin level is higher than in adults (1).

There are three main reasons why the level of unconjugated bilirubin is increased as a physiological condition in neonates: shortened lifespan of RBCs, decreased bilirubin conjugation and reduced bilirubin elimination through faeces (7).

In healthy adults, the average lifespan of RBCs is about 120 days, unlike in neonates, where they have a reduced circulating half-life with an average lifespan of 70-90 days. The reduced lifespan of the RBCs leads to an increase in the production of unconjugated bilirubin (13). This is the first main reason why jaundice often develops in various degrees in the neonate (1, 14).

Secondly, UGT in the full-term newborn has an activity of only about 1 % of the adult level (14). As mentioned earlier, conjugation of bilirubin by UGT found in hepatocytes is a prerequisite for eliminating bilirubin through bile. As the immature liver struggles to conjugate the excessive amounts of bilirubin produced by the reticuloendothelial system, the level of unconjugated bilirubin increases, and the neonate develops jaundice (14).

The third reason that contributes to physiological jaundice in newborns is their decreased amount of bacteria which can convert conjugated bilirubin to stercobilin in the intestinal tract. Instead, the enzyme beta-glucuronidase transforms bilirubin to its unconjugated form, which is then reabsorbed through enterohepatic circulation and results in increased concentration of bilirubin in blood (7).

2.1.3 Pathological neonatal jaundice

A variety of pathologic conditions in the neonate may also lead to unconjugated hyperbilirubinemia and neonatal jaundice. Pathological neonatal jaundice usually appears within the first 24 hours after birth (7). Among the most common reasons are blood group incompatibility between the mother and the baby, Gilbert syndrome and GD6P deficiency (1).

Conjugated hyperbilirubinemia in newborns – sometimes referred to as neonatal cholestasis – is a rare cause of neonatal jaundice. The condition is almost always pathologic and due to various causes, including biliary atresia and viral infections. Regardless of aetiology and severity, it requires rapid and targeted treatment (1).

2.1.4 Severe hyperbilirubinemia and its treatment

The bilirubin level is measured as total serum bilirubin (TSB), which is based on the combined concentration of unconjugated and conjugated bilirubin. Severe hyperbilirubinemia can be defined as TSB > 428 μ mol/L (25 mg/dL) in term and late preterm newborns (8). It can develop from both physiological and pathological conditions.

As mentioned above, unconjugated bilirubin binds reversibly to albumin with high affinity. However, it may be found in its free form when the concentration exceeds the carrier-capacity of albumin (7). Free unconjugated bilirubin is neurotoxic, can cross the blood-brain barrier, bind to brain cells, and cause damage to specific regions in the brain, including the basal ganglia, globus pallidus and cerebellum (9). Early diagnosis and treatment of severe hyperbilirubinemia is essential to avoid the development of extreme hyperbilirubinemia, defined as TSB > 513 μ mol/L (30 mg/dL), which can result in BIE (8).

Treatment of severe hyperbilirubinemia is ideally based on aetiology and TSB. The threshold for treatment also depends on factors like gestational age and weight of the newborn (1, 15). A systematic review of global clinical practice guidelines for neonatal jaundice was conducted in 2021. All the investigated guidelines included phototherapy and exchange transfusion as treatment options (16). Phototherapy transforms unconjugated bilirubin into water-soluble isomers that can be excreted without conjugation in the liver (17). This is a simple but effective treatment with very few adverse side effects and therefore the first-line treatment of neonatal hyperbilirubinemia (1). If the phototherapy is not effective enough or if the bilirubin levels rise too rapidly, exchange transfusion should be considered. Exchange transfusion involves the replacement of the newborn's blood with compatible donor blood (18). This is the fastest way to reduce bilirubin levels, but it can, in certain instances, cause serious side effects like internal bleeding (1, 19).

More targeted treatment can also be done depending on the specific aetiology of jaundice. An example is intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) if the jaundice is caused by immune-mediated haemolysis (1).

In LMICs, however, national guidelines for the effective treatment of severe hyperbilirubinemia are rare (20). Another general problem is that even though guidelines exist, adherence to them could still be poor. A study in a selection of American hospitals found a marked interhospital variation regarding adherence to existing guidelines at the point. (21). This highlights the problem with severe neonatal jaundice and its solutions across health care systems.

2.1.5 Methods for detecting neonatal jaundice

When diagnosing neonatal jaundice, the gold standard is to measure TSB through a blood test (4,5). While this gives the most accurate result, the method is invasive and can lead to pain, stress, and risk of infection for the neonate being assessed (22). The use of a transcutaneous bilirubinometer (TcB) is a useful and well-established alternative for screening. Obtaining a TcB measurement is fast, non-invasive and agrees well with laboratory findings obtained by a blood test (23-25).

In most LMICs, diagnosing neonatal jaundice is done by visual assessment, as measurements with blood tests and TcB devices are expensive and are not widely available (26). The most common form of visual assessment is the Kramer score. This method is based on the advancement of jaundice from the head to the hands and feet of the neonate. However, studies have shown that Kramer score cannot be used to identify newborns needing treatment for neonatal jaundice (26-28).

The use of visual assessment alone as a screening method is unfortunate, as it can entail neonates not getting the appropriate care, which can lead to permanent consequences for the

child (28-30). In 2015, a group of researchers gathered from different regions of the world and concluded that inexpensive and simple-to-use devices for measuring bilirubin were essential and should be a target to reach for in the future (30).

Over the last decade, at least three smartphone apps for detecting neonatal jaundice have been developed: Picterus JP, BiliCam and neoSCB (Neonatal scleralconjunctival bilirubinometer). Currently, only Picterus JP got CE approval (3, 31).

The benefit of a mHealth (mobile health) tool for jaundice screening is documented in a recent randomised controlled study in Hainan, China. The study demonstrated that a smartphone-based solution for screening of neonatal jaundice decreased the neonatal readmission rate within 30 days from the first discharge (32).

2.2 mHealth

According to previous UN Secretary General Advisor Jeffrey Sachs, "Mobile phones and wireless internet end isolation, and will therefore prove to be the most transformative technology of economic development of our time " (33, 34). Mobile technology is spreading faster than any other technology globally (35). Today's smartphones offer mobility, are flexible, easy to use, allow immediate communication across geographical barriers, enable access to vast amounts of valuable information regarding everything from job and investment opportunities, weather forecasts, preventative measures for health, and have shown to be a helpful tool for education (36). From a health care perspective, low-cost mobile technology's potential to improve health services and their delivery in developing countries is increasingly recognised (37). According to the German-founded market research company Statista Research & Analysis, the health industry will play a significant role in the upcoming advance of mobile technology (38).

With the increasing availability of mobile technology, a new subtype of eHealth (electronic health), called mHealth (mobile health), has emerged. While eHealth refers to the use of information and communication technology in health care, for example the use of digital health records, the latter is defined by WHO as "medical and public health practice supported by mobile devices, such as mobile phones, patient monitoring devices, personal digital assistants, and other wireless devices" (39, 40).

2.2.1 Types of mHealth

The majority of mHealth solutions are based on functionalities of conventional mobile phones and complex smartphones (41). The most common types of mHealth are smartphone applications and short message service (SMS) (42). Through basic functions like voice message communication, health line services are only a phone call away, and health care professionals can get hold of information in order to assess a patient's need for an in-person consultation. SMS has been used to spread awareness, mass educate populations and remind patients about appointments (42).

Today's smartphones offer Bluetooth, Global Positioning System (GPS) and the possibility to access the internet through WiFi or broadband cellular network technology (3G or 4G) (39). With help from Bluetooth technology, smartphones can collect information from glucose sensors, blood pressure monitors and other medical devices. While GPS is helpful in order for patients to locate health institutions, extensive amounts of information regarding diseases and preventative measures are available through internet access. Internet access also enables remote patient monitoring, aids doctors' decision-making, and makes video calls between health care professionals and patients possible. mHealth apps have become economically profitable for tech developers, and as of 2021, over 350 000 mHealth apps were available for smartphone owners through app stores (43). The Canadian-Indian market research company Precedence research valued the global mHealth market to be 54,3 billion US dollars in 2021. According to their predictions, this market will reach over 243,6 billion US dollars by 2030 (44).

2.2.2 Implementation of mHealth in developing countries

Simultaneously as the field of mHealth continues to evolve, health care systems in developing countries face serious economic struggles, a lack of health care workers and a shortage of medical devices (42). A group of researchers from the University College of London hypothesised that using mHealth solutions in LMICs can improve the quality and effectiveness of the health care delivered while also reducing costs (37). An increasing

number of mHealth solutions are specifically developed for use in low-resource settings, but the majority fail to scale up from pilot studies or experimental projects (45, 46). Sociocultural differences, technological challenges and illiteracy are among the factors that complicate the process of mHealth implementation in developing countries (47).

Wallis et al claimed that "A system that is difficult to operate for the user is most likely to fail, and it is paramount to have the end-user in mind when developing mHealth systems. If a system or devise is not usable, then the intervention will not be able to make it out of the pilot phase" (45).

In other words, feedback from the intended users of a mHealth solution needs to be taken into consideration for it to be taken into widespread use.

2.3 Picterus JP

2.3.1 The technology behind Picterus JP

Picterus JP is an easy-to-use smartphone app which offers an affordable, instant, and accessible solution to estimate bilirubin levels using novel and patented skin colour-based screening technology (48).

The technology behind Picterus JP is based on how factors like skin thickness, bilirubin, haemoglobin and melanin levels affect skin reflectance. A colour calibration card must be used to correct for variations in illumination. A mathematical model was used to create a library of simulated reflectance spectra of the skin in neonates and later adapted for use with a smartphone camera (48). A mathematical model was used to create a library of simulated reflectance and later adapted for use with a smartphone camera of the skin in neonates and later adapted for use with a create a reflectance spectra of the skin in neonates and later adapted for use with a camera.

In order to estimate the bilirubin level using Picterus JP, the examiner must first remove the glue-protection on the calibration card and then attach the card to the newborn's chest. Subsequently, the examiner uses the Picterus app on a smartphone to take pictures of the skin on the baby's chest along with the calibration card. When holding the smartphone at the right angle and distance from the newborn, six pictures are obtained automatically, three with and three without flash. See figure 1.



2.3.2 Previous studies and gaps in the field regarding mHealth solutions for detecting neonatal jaundice

Regarding validating the specificity and sensitivity of detecting jaundice, Picterus JP has been tested in studies in Norway, Mexico, and the Philippines (48, 50, 51). These studies showed that the app could be an accurate and affordable screening tool to improve neonatal detection, with the estimates from the app being moderate to strongly correlated with TSB levels. The diagnostic accuracy of Picterus JP is comparable to other smartphone-based apps for detecting neonatal jaundice (52, 53).

Two studies in LMICs have been conducted regarding the health care workers' attitudes towards Picterus JP. A master thesis study in Nigeria investigated health care workers' attitudes towards Picterus JP. The study revealed that most health care workers found the app intriguing and would want to implement the solution into their daily practice. The authors recommended that parents' perspectives should be addressed in future research (4). A pilot

study in Mexico (manuscript in preparation) also revealed a clear want and need from health care workers for an accurate and available tool for detecting neonatal jaundice in low-income settings where other alternatives are unavailable.

In the validation study of the sclera-based neoSCB app, feedback from mothers on the procedure used was documented. However, the findings regarding this point do not appear clear (53). No other studies focusing on parents' user experience using a neonatal jaundice detecting tool (in low-income settings) were found and there is limited knowledge. As previously mentioned, users' experience must be considered for a mHealth solution to be widely used (45, 47). In other words, if Picterus JP is to be implemented by parents and health care workers in low-income settings, the app's developers should make necessary adjustments based on feedback from the intended target group.

2.4 The Mexican context

2.4.1 Socioeconomic challenges in Mexico

With over 131 million inhabitants, Mexico is the 10th most populous country in the world (54). Based on the gross domestic product (GDP) in 2021, the country had the second largest economy in Latin America and placed among the top fifteen economies from a global perspective (55). However, despite the status as an upper-middle-income country and the economic growth seen in the last decades , financial and social disparities between urban and rural parts of Mexico remain a major issue, as well as the population's unequal access to health care (56-59). According to DataMéxico, 44,5 % of the Mexican population was reported to live in moderate or extreme poverty as late as 2020. In the same year, deprivation of social security, health services and food access were the main social challenges seen in the country (60).

Mexico is considered one of the most unequal countries in the world. While 57,4 % of the country's total income goes to the top 10 % of wage earners, the bottom half of workers receive as little as 9,2 % (56). One out of five Mexicans lives in rural communities , where the economic situation is considerably worse than the national average, with a poverty rate of 58 % (57, 61).

The Healthcare Access and Quality (HAQ) Index from 2018 is based on the Global Burden of Diseases, Injuries and Risk Factors Study 2016. By surveying the frequency of 32 causes of death in 195 countries and territories and subnational locations in selected countries, a population's access to quality health care was presented as a number between 0 (worst performance) to 100 (best performance). Among the OECD countries, Mexico had the lowest HAQ of 66,3, and from a global perspective, the country was ranked number 91 (62).

The economic struggle is most significant in the less industrialised southern states of Chiapas, Guerrero and Oaxaca, where the average poverty rate is close to 70 % (63). These three also have a higher proportion of indigenous people and a low degree of urbanisation compared to many of the other Mexican states (61, 64).

The availability of health services also varies greatly from state to state. The population of the wealthiest state – Nuevo León –was reported to have the highest access to quality health care (HAQ=72,8). In contrast, the lowest HAQ obtained were from Chiapas (HAQ=55,8) and Oaxaca (HAQ=59,5) (65).

2.4.2 The Mexican health care system

The Mexican health care system comprises a wide range of private and public providers. Workers in the formal sector can obtain social security and health care through large institutions like IMSS (Mexican Institute of Social Security) or ISSSTE (Institute for Social Security and Services for State Employees). Institute of Health for Wellbeing (INSABI) are for people with informal employment or those out of work. According to WHO's review of the Mexican health care system, these institutions covered 37,5 %, 5,7 % and 26,1 % of Mexicans in 2020, respectively (66). In 2018 approximately 8 % of the population had private insurance (alone or in addition to public insurance), and almost 14 % were reported to be uninsured. The report also revealed that only 3,3 % of the 4341 Mexican hospitals were localised in rural areas. Furthermore, 30 % of the hospitals were public. Among these, 61 % provided health care for the uninsured population (57).

2.4.3 IMSS and IMSS-Bienestar

This study took place in collaboration with IMSS, which is the largest social welfare institution in Latin America (57). The organisation has a legal mandate derived from Article 123 of the Mexican Political Constitution and is an integral part of the country's health care system. According to IMSS' website, their mission is to be the "basic instrument of social security, established as a national public service, for all workers and their families" (67).

In 1973 the Mexican Social Security Law was modified to empower IMSS to extend its action to population centres without taxpaying capacity due to poverty. In the wake of this, the first antecedent of IMSS-Bienestar was created (68).

The IMSS-Bienestar program offers free health care to those in need within family medicine, obstetrics-gynaecology, general surgery, internal medicine and paediatrics, among others. Another aim of the program is to enhance the knowledge of health and preventative measures among the indigenous, rural and urban communities belonging to the areas and regions of responsibility(68).

IMSS-Bienestar is represented in 19 of the 32 Mexican States, with a registered population of 11,6 million. It serves more than 20 000 localities (68). Oaxaca state has the highest number of municipalities where the program is present (69). Out of the 4,1 million inhabitants in the state, there are over 1,2 million beneficiaries of the program (70).

2.4.4 Neonatal jaundice in Mexico

The incidence of severe neonatal jaundice in high-income countries varies between 2 and 42 per 100 000 live-born infants (71). Such estimates using population-based data are lacking in most LMICs and Mexico. However, the incidence of neonatal jaundice in LMICs is projected to be higher because of a variety of aetiological factors like low birth weight, prematurity and sepsis, which is more common in many low-income settings (20).

IMSS have guidelines for diagnostics, treatment and follow-up for neonatal jaundice. For neonates at home, it is recommended that parents should carry out a visual examination to look for jaundice (72). The knowledge that visual inspection is unreliable, even for trained

professionals, underscores the potential for an easy-to-use app that could be highly beneficial in Mexico (26-28).

3. Research aims

- The main aim of this project was to explore and compare parents' user experience with the mHealth smartphone app Picterus JP in an urban and a rural low-income setting in Mexico.
- 2) The secondary aim of this project was to explore and compare the self-reported knowledge of jaundice among the same parents.

4. Research methods

This study was a quantitative, paper-based survey. Data collection was performed between August and September 2022.

4.1 Research questions

- How are the parents' user experience of Picterus JP in an urban and a rural lowincome setting in Mexico concerning the:
 - a) Overall user experience of the app?
 - b) Usability of the app?
 - c) Utility of the app?
- 2) What is the knowledge level about jaundice in an urban and a rural low-income setting in Mexico?

Within this thesis, "Overall user experience" refers to how the participants on average responded to the questionnaire regarding their experience with Picterus JP. "Usability" is defined as "the extent to which a product can be used by specified users to achieve specific goals with effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction in a specified context of use". "Utility" is defined as the "ability to satisfy a particular need; usefulness" (73, 74).

4.2 Preparations

4.2.1 The questionnaire, information sheet and consent form

The questionnaire (appendix 1), information sheet (appendix 2) and consent form (appendix 3) were prepared in Trondheim, Norway, ahead of the data collection period. While the questionnaire was designed in English and translated into Spanish, the remaining two forms were created in Spanish by Dr Jiménez Díaz.

The first part of the questionnaire explored the participants' self-reported level of knowledge jaundice. The respondents were asked to choose one of the following: "I have never heard about jaundice", "I have heard about jaundice, but I am not sure what it is", "I have heard about jaundice and understand what it is" or "I am very familiar with jaundice".

The second part of the questionnaire included ten statements about the user experience of Picterus JP. The participants replied to each statement through a 7-point Likert scale, with responses ranging from "Totally disagree" to "Strongly agree". The survey was heavily inspired by the validated "mHealth App Usability Questionnaire (MAUQ) for Standalone mHealth App Used by Patients" but adjusted with regard to the language barrier and purpose of this study (75). Lack of experience with mHealth or questionnaires among the participants were also taken into consideration during the preparation phase.

The information sheet included a brief presentation of ourselves, the aim of our study, a short explanation of the technology behind the app, why detection of neonatal jaundice is important, and what participation would include, was created. A consent form with name, signature, and date of the day was added to the information sheet.

4.2.2 The study sites in Oaxaca, Mexico

Parents of newborns and pregnant women were recruited to participate in this study at two different IMSS health care facilities in the state of Oaxaca, Mexico. As previously mentioned,

Oaxaca has a high poverty rate, and the access to quality health care in the state is poor (65, 76). For these reasons, parents who want to screen their infant for jaundice may find access to a low-cost, quick, and non-invasive screening tool like Picterus JP useful. If the app accommodates the needs and wants of the parents in the area, it might become widespread in use and thereby increase the detection rate of neonatal jaundice. Furthermore, Dr Jiménez Díaz's large network and numerous contacts in the state greatly simplified the data collection process.

The first part of fieldwork occurred between 23rd August 2022 and 9th September 2022 at IMSS Clinic for Family Medicine No. 65 in the urban municipality Santa Lucía del Camino, adjacent to the state capital Oaxaca de Juárez. The second part of the fieldwork occurred between 13th September and 28th September, thirty kilometres away, at IMSS-Bienestar Hospital for Rural Solidarity in the rural municipality of Tlacolula de Matamoros.

At the time of data collection, IMSS Clinic 65 (from now on referred to as the "urban clinic") provided first-level care to their right-holders, that is to say, those with insurance through formal employment in the private sector – and their families. The hospital in Tlacolula de Matamoros (the "rural hospital") was part of the IMSS-Bienestar program and offered free health care within family medicine, obstetrics-gynaecology, general surgery, internal medicine and paediatrics. In the same way the urban clinic accepted patients from outside Santa Lucía del Camino, the rural hospital also welcomed those who resided in municipalities other than Tlacolula de Matamoros.

As presented in Table 1, there were several socio-economical differences between the inhabitants of Santa Lucía del Camino and Tlacolula de Matamoros in 2020. The poverty rate was found to be higher, and the education level lower, in Tlacolula de Matamoros. More than 90 % of the inhabitants in both municipalities resided in a household with cell phone access. However, as for access to the internet, this applied to a considerably higher proportion of the ones living in Santa Lucía del Camino (77, 78).

Table 1: Socioeconomic characteristics of Santa Lucía del Camino and Tlacolula de Matamoros inOaxaca, Mexico (77, 78).

	Santa Lucía del Camino (Location of the urban clinic)	Tlacolula de Matamoros (Location of the rural hospital)
Percentage of the population living in moderate or extreme poverty	27,2	40,7
Percentage of the population who speaks at least one indigenous language	13,2	19,1
Percentage of the population who are illiterate	2,4	6,5
Percentage of households with access to cell phone	93,6	91,2
Percentage of households with access to the internet	71,0	39,1
Distribution of the population by education level	 Bachelor's degree (31,5%) High school or General Baccalaureate (23,2%) Middle School (21,4%) 	 Primary School (29,6 %) Middle school (26,8%) High School or General Baccalaureate (20,0 %)

4.3 Inclusion criteria

The following people were eligible to partake in the study:

People seeking health for themselves or their baby and hospitalised mothers with one of the following characteristics:

- Pregnant women in the third trimester (28 weeks or more of pregnancy).
- Parents of babies born less than 31 days ago.

Collaboration between both parents of a newborn while trying the app and filling out a single questionnaire was accepted.

4.4 Exclusion criteria

Exclusion criteria in the study were:

- Those who had previously participated in the project.
- Those whose partners had previously participated in the project.
- Those not able to understand oral English nor oral Spanish.

4.5 Recruitment and procedure

At both clinics, we introduced ourselves to assistants, nurses, doctors, and social workers at the relevant departures. We oriented them about the project and asked them to recruit potential participants by informing them about our project. All in all, the procedure for each patient consisted of three steps. The first step was to receive information and give consent. The second step was trying the app, as described under "background", on a doll, which we will refer to as the "exercise" in this section. The last step was filling out the questionnaire. Below we will describe how these steps were carried out in the two clinics.

 In the urban clinic, we set up a stand with information and the needed equipment in the hallway close to the waiting room to be able to see most of the patients on the way to their appointments. We approached the potential participants from our stand, or we approached them in the waiting area. In the rural hospital, we set up a stand in a classroom, and most participants went through the whole process in this setting. Most of the participants were recruited by health care workers, mainly nurses, after their appointment. We also recruited some from the waiting area and brought them to the classroom, where they got the written information and were allowed to ask questions. With the help of health care workers, we also approached parents in the maternity ward.

A short presentation about ourselves and the project was given orally in Spanish, and those interested were handed the written information sheet with the consent form attached. We underscored that they would perform the exercise on a doll, not their baby, and that the project was completely voluntary. Participants got the opportunity to ask questions about the project, and if we did not understand the questions, we would call in one of the native Spanish speakers in the clinic. All participants had to read through the information sheet and sign the consent form before trying the application.

2) The second part was trying out the app. When the participants had agreed to perform the "exercise", we explained that they had everything they needed to complete the exercise and that the instruction about how to use the app was found in the app. We also told them that we could not help them with how to use the app and that if they were stuck, they could either reread the instructions and try as many times as they wanted or finish the exercise and fill out the questionnaire regardless. We then let them read the instructions and try the app until they either got a result or did not want to try anymore.

Most participants tried out the app from our stand, but a minority tried the app in the waiting room on a chair/table or in the doctor's office. At the rural hospital, in the maternal ward, some mothers performed the exercise in their beds since they were not allowed to leave their beds.

Samsung Galaxy S7 smartphones, a doll and calibration cards were provided by Picterus AS. Thus, the patients did not have to install software on their smartphones or try the app on their babies. Consequently, participating in the project did not affect their or their baby's health care.

3) After finishing the exercise, we presented the questionnaire to the participants. We instructed them on how to fill it out correctly and explained that the questionnaire was anonymous and that they could be completely honest. While they filled out the questionnaire, we walked away so the participants would feel that we observed what they answered. After they finished the questionnaire, they were asked to fold the paper before putting it in a folder. As a general rule, the parents or pregnant women filled out the questionnaire on their own or with their partner without us interacting.

4.6 Data analysis

Statements 1-6 and 9 explored the usability of Picterus JP. The remaining statements -7, 8 and 10 – covered the app's level of utility.

Answers on the 7-point Likert scale were converted to numbers from 1-7, where 1 corresponded to "Totally disagree", and 7 corresponded to "Strongly agree". A high level of agreement with the statements indicated that the experience with Picterus JP was positive. To aid the interpretation of the data, results from the 7-point Likert scale were categorised into Disagree ("Totally disagree", "Disagree" and "Somewhat agree"), Neutral ("Neither agree nor disagree") and Agree ("Somewhat agree", "Agree" and "Strongly agree").

Frequencies, means and standard deviation were calculated.

Mann-Whitney U test was applied to explore whether there was a significant difference between the two study sites regarding their user experience with Picterus JP (in the categories "Overall user experience", "Usability" and "Utility") and knowledge about jaundice. A pvalue of <0.05 was used as our cut-off for statistical significance.

Analysis was done using IBM SPSS Statistics version 27. Tables and graphs were made using Microsoft Excel 2016 and Microsoft Word 2016.

4.7 Ethical approval and personal data storage

Standard informed consent protocols were applied, and data privacy was ensured for all individuals participating in the study by following the EU's General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) guidelines. The project was reported to NSD, the Norwegian centre for research data (reference number: 599238), as a part of the PhD project JAUND-EASE at the Department of Public Health and Nursing, NTNU (Norwegian University of Science and Technology).

Since no health-sensitive data was collected, there was no need for ethical approval for the current project. The project was approved locally in the state of Oaxaca, Mexico, according to their own procedures by the directors of both facilities through the contacts of Dr Jiménez Díaz.

The responses from the questionnaires were collected anonymously. As the participants did not consent to the acquisition of personal data, the consent form was shredded after the data collection period. Questionnaires will be kept until the thesis is delivered and approved by NTNU, and then shredded.

5. Results

A total of n=54 questionnaires were filled out and handed in by parents and pregnant women visiting the urban clinic during the data collection period. Out of these, n=7 questionnaires were invalid and therefore not used in the data analysis. Therefore, a total of n=47 questionnaires were analysed from the urban clinic.

A total of n=60 questionnaires were collected from the rural hospital. Among these, n=11 did not qualify to be included in the data analysis. The remaining n=49 questionnaires from the rural hospital were analysed.

The questionnaires were regarded as invalid when the respondents had not answered one or more questions or when they had checked more than one alternative in one or more questions. These questionnaires were not included in the analysis.

5.1 The user experience of Picterus JP

5.1.1 The user experience among all the participants

Table 2: Distribution of responses and mean ratings for the ten statements regarding the userexperience (all participants, n=96)

Statements	Distribution of responses			Mean rating (µ)
	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	(SD)
1. The app was easy to use	11,4 % (n=11)	1,0 % (n=1)	87,5 % (n=84)	5,8 (1,6)
2. It was easy for me to learn how to use the app	9,3 % (n=9)	4,2 % (n=4)	86,5 % (n=83)	5,9 (1,5)
3. I like the design of the app	3,1 % (n=3)	4,2 % (n=4)	92,7 % (n=89)	6,0 (1,1)
4. I like what is shown on the app screen	2,1 % (n=2)	4,2 % (n=4)	93,8 % (n=90)	6,0 (1,0)
5. The information in the app was well-organised, which made it easy for me to find the information I needed	6,2 % (n=6)	5,2 % (n=5)	88,5 % (n=85)	6,1 (1,3)
6. The amount of time required to use the app has been adequate for me	7,3 % (n=7)	3,1 % (n=3)	89,6 % (n=86)	6,0 (1,4)
7. The app would be useful to assess the health and well- being of my baby	4,1 % (n=4)	-	95,9 % (n=92)	6,3 (1,1)
8. The app can help me decide when to contact the doctor	6,2 % (n=6)	2,1 % (n=2)	91,7 % (n=88)	6,0 (1,3)
9. In general, I am satisfied with the app	4,1 % (n=4)	8,3 % (n=8)	87,5 % (n=84)	5,9 (1,3)
10. I would feel comfortable using the app on my baby	3,1 % (n=3)	4,2 % (n=4)	92,7 % (n=89)	6,1 (1,2)

As seen in table 2, all responses were skewed towards agreeing with the proposed statements, meaning the participants, on average, had a favourable experience with Picterus JP. For all the statements, the number of participants who agreed clearly outnumbered the ones who disagreed.

The participants' responses to the statements "The app would be useful to assess the health and well-being of my baby" (statement 7) obtained the highest mean rating (μ =6,3). As many as 95,9 % (n=92) agreed to this statement.

"The app was easy to use" (statement 1) obtained the lowest mean rating of all (μ =5,8) and the highest number of negative replies (11,4 % (n=11)). The responders were also less satisfied with how easy it was to learn how to use the app (statement 2) (μ =5,9). Furthermore, when asked, "In general, I am satisfied with the app" (statement 9), twelve participants (12,4 %) chose the alternatives "Totally disagree", "Disagree", "Somewhat disagree", or "Neither agree nor disagree" (μ =5,9).

Table 3: Distribution of responses and mean ratings for statements in the categories overall user experience, usability and utility (all participants, n=96)

	Distril	Mean rating (µ)		
	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	(SD)
Categories				
Overall user experience	5,7 %	3,7 %	90,6 %	6,0 (1,0)
Usability	6,2 %	4,3 %	89,4 %	6,0 (1,1)
Utility	4,5 %	2,1 %	93,4 %	6,1 (1,1)

According to the results found in table 3, the participants were slightly more positive towards the utility (statements 7, 8 and 10) of Picterus JP compared to the app's usability (statements 1-6 and 9). The overall user experience's mean rating (statements 1-10) was μ =6,0 – which corresponds to "Agree" on the Likert scale used for this survey.

5.1.2 Comparison of the user experience among the participants at the urban and the rural study sites

Table 4: Distribution of responses for statements in the categories overall user experience, usability and utility among the participants at the urban (n=47) and the rural (n=49) study sites

	Distribution of responses					
	Disag	gree Neutral		utral	Agree	
Categories	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rural
Overall user experience	3,5 %	7,9 %	0,8 %	6,3 %	95,8 %	85,7 %
Usability	3,0 %	9,3 %	1,2 %	7,3 %	95,8 %	83,5 %
Utility	4,3 %	4,7 %	-	4,1 %	95,7 %	91,2 %

Table 4 presents how the participants at the two study sites differed on average in the categories "Overall user experience" (statements 1-10), "Usability" (statements 1-6 and 9), and "Utility" (statements 7, 8 and 10).

Overall user experience

For the category "Overall user experience", on average 95,8 % in the urban and 85,7 % in the rural area agreed to the statements. Consequently, a greater proportion of the people in the rural area were more negative and were either neutral (6,3 %) or disagreed (7.9 %) than in the urban area (0.8 % and 3,5 % respectively).

The Mann-Whitney U test revealed that the difference regarding the overall user experience between the two populations was statistically significant (p=0.001).

When looking at the individual statements, the biggest differences were found on the three statements: "It was easy for me to learn how to use the app" (statement 2), "The amount of time required to use this app has been adequate for me" (statement 6) and "In general, I am satisfied with the app" (statement 9) (see appendix 4). For these three statements, the average percentages of participants in the urban population who agreed was 95,8 %, 97,8 % and 93,7 % respectively. Looking at the corresponding numbers for the rural population, the percentages were 77,6 %, 81,6 % and 81,6 %. This means that even though both study groups in general were satisfied, a greater proportion of the participants in the rural setting were neutral or negative to these statements.

The statements where the participants from the urban and the rural area were most in agreement with each other were the three regarding the app's utility (statements 7, 8 and 10). In both groups, more than 90 % agreed on some level on all three statements in this category, indicating that on average they found the app very useful.

Usability

When assessing the responses to app's usability (statements 1-6 and 9), on average 95,8 % agreed to these statements in the urban clinic. The corresponding percentage was only 83,5 % at the rural hospital (table 4). Furthermore, mean rating for the urban population regarding usability was μ =6.4. This puts them between "Agree" and "Strongly agree". The mean rating for the rural participants was μ =5.6. This puts them between "Somewhat agree" and "Agree", indicating that they were less satisfied than the urban population.

The Mann-Whitney U test on the usability statements confirmed that the difference between the urban and rural participants was statistically significant (p<0.001).

Utility

Table 4 shows that regarding the questions about the utility (statements 7, 8 and 10) of the Picterus JP app, on average in both groups, more than 90 % agreed on some level to these questions, indicating that they found the app useful. More people (8,8 %) in the rural hospital were either neutral or negative to the utility of Picterus JP than in the urban clinic (4,3 %). As described earlier, these were the questions where the responses from the two groups were most in accordance with each other.

The mean score in the urban population on these statements was μ =6.2, while it was μ =6.0 in the rural population. This puts both groups closest to "Agree", with the urban group slightly more positive than the rural group.

A Mann-Whitney U test was performed and found that there was no statistically significant difference in how the two groups scored the utility of Picterus JP (p=0.143).

5.2 The level of knowledge about jaundice

5.2.1 The level of knowledge about jaundice among all the participants

	Distribution of responses
Statements	
I have never heard about jaundice	52,1 % (n=50)
I have heard about jaundice, but I am not sure what it is	25,0 % (n=24)
I have heard about jaundice and understand what it is	21,9 % (n=21)
I am very familiar with jaundice	1,0 % (n=1)

Table 5: Level of knowledge about jaundice among all the participants (n=96)

The participants (n=96) were asked which statements best described their level of knowledge about jaundice (table 5). Slightly more than half (52,1 % (n=50)) had never heard about jaundice. A quarter (n = 24) reported: "I have heard about jaundice, but I am not sure what it is". Of the remaining responders, n=21 (21,9 %) had heard about the condition and understood what it is. Only one person (1,0 %) stated to be very familiar with jaundice.

5.2.2 Comparison of the level of knowledge about jaundice among the participants at the urban and the rural study sites

Table 6: Comparison of the level of knowledge about jaundice among the participants at the urban (n=47) and the rural (n=49) study sites

	Distribution of responses		
	Urban (n=47)	Rural (n=49)	
Statements			
I have never heard about jaundice	31,9 % (n=15)	71,4 % (n=35)	
I have heard about jaundice, but I am not sure what it is	34,0 % (n=16)	16,3 % (n=8)	
I have heard about jaundice and understand what it is	34,0 % (n=16)	10,2 % (n=5)	
I am very familiar with jaundice	-	2,0 % (n=1)	

There is a notable difference between the participants of the urban and the rural study sites in their self-reported level of knowledge about jaundice (see table 6).

In the urban clinic, the answers from the participants are almost equally distributed between the three first alternatives. None of the participants reported being "very familiar with jaundice". While two-thirds of the urban sample had at least heard about jaundice, one-third had never heard about the condition before.

On the contrary, a more significant proportion (71,4 % (n=35)) of the participants in the rural hospital reported that they had never heard about jaundice. Only 16,3 % (n=8) reported that they had heard about jaundice but were unsure what it is, and one person (2 %) chose the alternative "I have heard about jaundice and understand what it is".

The Mann-Whitney U test indicated that the difference between the two study sites was statistically significant (p<0.00). This implies that the sample from the urban clinic systematically reported a higher knowledge about jaundice than the participants from the rural hospital.

6. Discussion

6.1 Main findings

6.1.1 The user experience

Our results showed that the group's overall experience of Picterus JP was favourable. Our data analysis also revealed that the whole group of participants on average rated the app's level of utility slightly better compared to its usability. When studying the responses towards each of the statements, one could see how the study group tended to be more supportive towards the app's potential to assess their baby's health and were less satisfied with how easy it was to use the app.

The data analysis revealed that even though the majority (52,1 % (n=50)) had never heard about jaundice, as much as 95,9 % (n=92) agreed on some level that Picterus JP would be useful for them to assess the health and well-being of their baby.

Another interesting finding was the high number of participants (95,9 % (n=92)) who reported that the app could help them decide when to contact the doctor, even though the version of Picterus JP used in the project did not provide any information on the significance of the result obtained, or whether the parents should contact health professionals or not based on this result. This general tendency people of reporting very positive answers could be a result of an acquiescence bias where the participants try to please the researchers. This, and other hypotheses trying to explain the results, will be further discussed under "Strengths and limitations".

Part of the main aim was to distinguish similarities and differences in the responses from the urban and rural cohorts. Concerning overall perception, Mann-Whitney U-test revealed that the participants from the urban clinic systematically gave the app a higher rating. However, the difference was only significant regarding the app's usability and not utility. This can be explained because the category "Usability" consists of seven individual statements and is, therefore, more heavily weighted when analysing the data than the category "Utility", which only consists of three individual statements.

6.1.2 The level of knowledge about jaundice

The exploration of the participants' self-reported level of knowledge revealed that 77,1 % (n=74) had either never heard about jaundice or were unsure of what it is. Our data also suggests that participants recruited from the urban clinic reported a higher level of knowledge than those from the rural hospital. The results from the Mann-Whitney U-test confirm that the difference is statistically significant.

Some recent studies have assessed the knowledge about jaundice of mothers and expectant mothers. Two studies in Ghana found that respectively 85,4 % of mothers and 77,1 % of expectant mothers had heard about neonatal jaundice (79, 80). Another study from 2021 showed that among mothers with healthy infants only 46,4 % had good knowledge about neonatal jaundice (81). Further, in a study among Egyptian mothers published in 2016, Moawad et al. discovered that those residing in urban areas were significantly more knowledgeable than those residing in rural areas (82). To our best knowledge, there are no studies in Mexico about knowledge about jaundice in any part of the population.

When comparing our results to the previous studies in LMIC, the level of knowledge was lower than what was found in these (79, 80). However, when we distinguished between the two study sites, the level of knowledge from the urban clinic was more consistent with what was found in these studies. On the other hand, the level of knowledge among the participants from the rural hospital was surprisingly low compared to both the urban study site and the previous studies. As described in the background section (table 1), the education level is generally higher in the urban area. Both the study of Moawad et al. and Huang et al. looking at mothers' knowledge about neonatal jaundice revealed that higher education was associated with a higher level of knowledge about Jaundice (81, 82). Therefore, this might be a possible explanation, but we cannot say this for sure because we did not collect information about this. The significant difference between the two study sites was in line with results from Moawad et al., who also demonstrated a significant difference between participants residing in an urban and a rural area (82). It is worth noting that our study also allowed fathers to participate in both study sites, while other studies were conducted on either mothers or pregnant women.

6.2 Strengths and limitations

6.2.1 The study population

As described earlier, the data collection period aimed to recruit participants in a low-income setting in Mexico. This was accomplished by collecting data from the state of Oaxaca, where as many as 63,9 % of the population lives in moderate or extreme poverty (76).

A strength of the study was that the inclusion and exclusion criteria for participation in the project were identical for both study sites. At the same time, one should keep in mind that only formal workers and their families had access to the health service provided at the urban clinic. In contrast, the rural hospital provided free health care regardless of insurance status. The differences observed in the responses between the two study groups may have something to do with socioeconomic status differences.

The narrow inclusion criteria ensured that only the project only conducted opinions of those who, at the time, had a newborn to take care of and those who would soon have one (pregnant women in the third trimester). In other words, intended users of Picterus JP.

At the same time, the number of participants could have been considerably higher if, for instance, pregnant women in the second trimester, partners of pregnant women, and parents of babies older than a month were also invited. However, in the absence of other such studies in Mexico, this study still provides solid initial findings on user experience of Picterus JP.

Those whose partner had previously participated in the project were not invited. This was a strength of the study, as it reduced the likelihood of responses being influenced by someone else's experience with the app.

Participation in the project was completely voluntary. A consequence of this may have been that the project recruited the ones who for a start felt the most comfortable with or had a more positive attitude towards mobile technology and questionnaires in general.

In addition, it was observed that a larger proportion of the parents and pregnant women at the rural hospital than those at the urban clinic declined the invitation to participate in the project. Some expressed that their lack of reading skills or experience with mobile technology was why they did not want to participate. It is possible that this impacted how the study group reviewed the app's usability at the rural hospital.

Further on, it was observed that trouble with interpreting the instructions, or unfamiliarity with using smartphones, resulted in increased time use, which in turn demotivated participants from further attempts. Those who did not use the app correctly did not make it to the result page, which may have influenced their perception of how they reviewed the app's usability and utility.

6.2.2. The recruitment process and procedure

The information sheet and consent form were written by Dr Jiménez Díaz, who is a native Mexican and is well-familiar with the culture and language of our study sites. This strengthened the recruitment process, as the information was conducted in a language suitable for the recruited parents. Furthermore, assistance from health care workers at the study sites eased the communication with the parents. This makes it more likely that they decided whether to take part in the project or not on the same grounds.

It should be mentioned that a larger proportion of the participants at the rural hospital than at the urban clinic were recruited with help from nurses, doctors and assistants. Those approached by health care personnel might have felt more pressured to participate, which may have influenced their attitude towards the project, experience with the app or response to the survey. At the same time, the assistance from the employees in the recruitment process likely resulted in a higher number of collected questionnaires.

In the rural hospital, n=2 of the participants could not read Spanish, and they received help from a nurse or one of the researchers to read the instructions to the app, consent form and the information sheet. To avoid bias, we made sure only to read the instructions found in the app and not to rephrase or instruct in a way that would give them an advantage compared to those who read the instructions themselves. These two participants also recieved help reading the

statements and the possible responses on the questionnaire. They would then tell us what response they felt was most fitting for their user experience and knowledge about jaundice and we would fill out the questionnaire for them in this manner. Even though this goes against our main rule of not helping with the questionnaire to not bias the replies, we chose to deviate from the rule to be able to get feedback from a wider selection of the population as we found no better practical way of getting their written feedback. An additional n=2 participants in the rural hospital preferred to have the consent form and information paper read out loud by one of the researchers but read the instructions by themselves and filled out the questionnaire independently. In the urban clinic all participants read all the information without help from the researchers or staff from the hospital.

Some days at the rural hospital, the internet connection was unstable. Therefore, n=10 participants did not get a bilirubin estimation from the app even though they did it correctly, and the application gave an error message instead. We then explained or demonstrated with a screenshot on another phone what we would get if there were an internet connection. Regardless they were allowed to fill out the questionnaire. In the urban clinic, trouble with the internet connection never occurred. This might have affected the feedback from the rural hospital in a negative way and could explain why there is more negative feedback from the rural hospital.

6.2.3 The questionnaire

The questionnaire was based on the MAUQ, which has shown to have good reliability and validity when it comes to assessing usability for mHealth applications (75). Using only closeended questions in the survey was appropriate for the project as it made it easier to collect data from the participants since the questionnaire was rather easy and quick to fill out. As described in the method section, Dr Jiménez Díaz assisted in the preparation of the questionnaire. There is therefor reason to believe that the modifications and translation of the statements fitted to the project. This is a strength of the study, and it gives our results credibility and makes the results easier to compare with previous and future studies about users' experience of Picterus JP.

Two reasons should be mentioned why the reliability and validity might not be the same in our study as described in the original MAUQ paper where these factors were assessed. The first is that the MAUQ was validated on a sample vastly different from ours. In the original study by Zhou et al., only people that had completed high school or higher education and that had at least a few years of experience using smart devices were allowed to participate (75). The prior knowledge about technology in our group and in the original was therefore markedly different, as several of the participants we spoke to, especially at the rural hospital, had little to no prior experience with smartphones. The second point has to do with translation and customisation. Modifying a questionnaire can be flexible and convenient, but it does not guarantee that the properties of the questionnaire are intact. Even though our survey was translated with the help of a medical doctor from Mexico, yet the reliability and validity could still be affected by cultural bias or interpretation issues. Even though customisation may have affected the validity of the questionnaire, this was necessary to make it more comprehensive and to measure the unique features of Picterus JP, especially since the app is meant for their baby and not themselves.

Based on our personal observations, the participants had greater trouble with using the app than what was reported on the questionnaires. Examples of mistakes we observed were that the participants had an incorrect angle or distance between the smartphone and the doll with the calibration card. For some of the participants, the feedback from the app (red/yellow colour indicating that it was incorrect) did not seem to help them get the phone in the correct position, and they therefore could not obtain the pictures necessary for getting a result.

The impression of a discrepancy we are left with between our observed performance and what the data suggests could be explained by an acquiescence bias where the responses are artificially positive. This could be to satisfy the researchers or be unintentional, even though we tried to avoid this by letting the participants fill out the survey in private and telling them it was completely anonymous. The statements of the questionnaire could have been more neutral instead of them all being worded in a positive manner like it was in the questionnaire (e.g., "easy", "well organised", "adequate" and "comfortable"). Another potential factor is that those who could not get a result on the app might also have difficulties filling out the questionnaire correctly. As previously mentioned, incomplete questionnaires were excluded from data analysis. In other words, the opinions of the participants who struggled the most with Picterus JP might not have been included. Something that could explain the skewness of the responses toward "Strongly agree", however not the discrepancy, is a selection bias towards individuals with more knowledge and experience with technology than what we expect the population to have. This would lead to more people in our sample having experience with technology than what would be representative for the actual population. On the other hand, this is also the target population for the app and the results can still be of great value for the developers of the Picterus JP app and for other mHealth developers.

Another limitation of this exploration is that responders might have under- or overestimated their level of knowledge about jaundice. Participants who filled out the form in the sight of their partner, with help from health care personnel or ourselves, might have felt reluctant to admit to having never heard about the condition.

7. Contribution to science and further recommendations

This project emphasised the viewpoint about Picterus JP of parents and pregnant women in the state of Oaxaca, Mexico. Similar studies about the user experience of this group have not been conducted, not for Picterus JP nor other smartphone apps intended for detecting neonatal jaundice. The thesis also assessed this group's knowledge about neonatal jaundice. No other studies have investigated the knowledge level among any demographic group Mexico. Our study therefore adds valuable information to the field and can be used by developers of mHealth applications to gain a deeper understanding of the users' attitudes toward their app. Our study also provides the first ever information about parents' knowledge about neonatal jaundice.

To further explore the user experience of parents with the use of a mHealth application for detecting neonatal jaundice, whether that is Picterus JP or another app, we recommend a qualitative research method where the parents can elaborate on their challenges with the app. Because of the very positive responses from our study, despite the observed difficulties we observed, we further recommend a more objective approach to investigating the user experience (time to result, error rate etc.).

We also recommend assessing the knowledge with specific questions about neonatal jaundice, instead of only self-reported knowledge. In this way one could get a more comprehensive picture of the kind of knowledge gaps that exists in the population.

8. Recommendations for developers of Picterus JP

From our point of view, modifications to Picterus JP's design and instructions should be made to increase the app's level of usability, especially among those with limited experience with mobile technology, lack of reading skills and knowledge about jaundice.

First and foremost, the instructions on the how-to-use page should be more straightforward regarding the calibration card's utilisation and positioning of the phone. There is a possibility that instructions would be better displayed through a real-life video. In addition, we suggest a more intuitive way to guide the user on how he or she should alter the angle or distance during a measurement session.

The app's developers should consider that the potential users of the app might have limited or no knowledge of jaundice. We propose that the result page of the app provide the user information on whether the result obtained is within the normal range or not. If the latter is the case, Picterus JP should guide the user to contact health services for further evaluation.

9. Conclusion

This study explored the user experience of the mHealth tool Picterus JP and the knowledge about neonatal jaundice among parents in a low-income setting in Oaxaca, Mexico in an urban health clinic and a rural hospital. We further compared the results from the urban and rural study sites. A quantitative method based on a questionnaire with close-ended questions was used to investigate this. Our study revealed that the participants generally had a good user experience with Picterus JP, regarding both the usability and utility of the app. Regardless of the question there was little difference in the user experience when looking at the population as a whole. However, a greater difference was found between the responses from the urban clinic and the rural hospital. The participants in the urban clinic generally had a better user experience than the participants from the rural hospital. Moreover, we observed that the participants had greater trouble using the app what was reflected in the results from the questionnaires. Therefore, we think that the app has a great potential to be used in a low-income setting like Oaxaca, but that it needs improvements to serve people with limited experience with mobile technology. To achieve this, further research should therefore have a qualitative focus to address the specific changes that can be made to the app.

Our results also revealed that the level of knowledge about jaundice in our sample was low, and about half (52,1 %) of the population had never heard about jaundice before. Our data also suggested that the rural population's knowledge level about jaundice is lower. These findings are interesting as it showed that even though the knowledge about jaundice was low, people still found Picterus JP to have high utility.

References

1. Ansong-Assoku B, Shah SD, Adnan M, Ankola PA. Neonatal Jaundice. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022.

2. Bolajoko O Olusanya, Michael Kaplan, Hansen TWR. Neonatal hyperbilirubinemia: a global perspective. The Lancet. 2018;2(8).

3. [Unknown author]. Picterus.com: Picterus AS; [cited 2022 13.12]. Available from: <u>https://www.picterus.com/</u>.

4. Shekoni O, Iversen S. Healthcare workers' perceptions towards the use of mHealth technologies in public health facilities in Lagos, Nigeria [Master thesis]2022.

5. Schiltz NK, Finkelstein Rosenthal B, Crowley MA, Koroukian SM, Nevar A, Meropol SB, et al. Rehospitalization During the First Year of Life by Insurance Status. Clin Pediatr (Phila). 2014;53(9):845-53.

6. Bawazeer M, Alsalamah R, Almazrooa D, Alanazi S, Alsaif N, Alsubayyil R, et al. Neonatal hospital readmissions: Rate and associated causes. Journal of Clinical Neonatology. 2021;10(4):233-8.

7. Dysart KC. Neonatal Hyperbilirubinemia (Jaundice in Neonates): MSD Manual 2022 [updated 09.2022; cited 2022 22.11]. Available from:

https://www.msdmanuals.com/professional/pediatrics/metabolic,-electrolyte,-and-toxic-disordersin-neonates/neonatal-hyperbilirubinemia.

8. Wong RJ, Bhutani VK. Screening for hyperbilirubinemia in term and late preterm newborn infants. In: Abrams SA, editor.: UpToDate; 2022.

9. Karimzadeh P, Fallahi M, Kazemian M, Taslimi Taleghani N, Nouripour S, Radfar M. Bilirubin Induced Encephalopathy. Iran J Child Neurol. 2020;14(1):7-19.

10. Kalakonda A, Jenkins BA, John S. Physiology, Bilirubin. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022.

11. Knutson M, Wessling-Resnick M. Iron Metabolism in the Reticuloendothelial System. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol. 2003;38(1):65.

12. Chaudhary N. Bilirubin Metabolism TeachMe Physiology 2022 [Available from: https://teachmephysiology.com/gastrointestinal-system/liver/bilirubin-metabolism/.

13. Watchko JF. Chapter 79 - Neonatal Indirect Hyperbilirubinemia and Kernicterus. In: Gleason CA, Devaskar SU, editors. Avery's Diseases of the Newborn (Ninth Edition). Philadelpia: W.B. Saunders; 2012. p. 1123-42.

14. Kamath-Rayne BD, Froese PA, Thilo EH. Neonatal hyperbilirubinemia. In: Gardner SL, editor. Merenstein & Gardner's handbook of neonatal intensive care: an interprofessional approach, ninth edition. St. Louis, Missouri: Elsevier; 2021. p. 662-88.

15. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Jaundice in newborn babies under 28 days [internet] London: NICE; 2010 [updated October, 2016; cited 2022 10.11.2022]. Clinical guideline [CG98]:[

16. Zhang M, Tang J, He Y, Li W, Chen Z, Xiong T, et al. Systematic review of global clinical practice guidelines for neonatal hyperbilirubinemia. BMJ Open. 2021;11(1):e040182.

17. Stokowski LA. Fundamentals of Phototherapy for Neonatal Jaundice. Adv Neonatal Care. 2011;11:S10-S21.

18. Bujandric N, Grujic J. Exchange Transfusion for Severe Neonatal Hyperbilirubinemia: 17 Years' Experience from Vojvodina, Serbia. Indian J Hematol Blood Transfus. 2016;32(2):208-14.

19. Wolf MF, Childers J, Gray KD, Chivily C, Glenn M, Jones L, et al. Exchange transfusion safety and outcomes in neonatal hyperbilirubinemia. J Perinatol. 2020;40(10):1506-12.

20. Olusanya BO, Ogunlesi TA, Slusher TM. Why is kernicterus still a major cause of death and disability in low-income and middle-income countries? Arch Dis Child. 2014;99(12):1117.

21. Atkinson LR, Escobar GJ, Takayama JI, Newman TB. Phototherapy use in jaundiced newborns in a large managed care organization: do clinicians adhere to the guideline? Pediatrics. 2003;111(5 Pt 1):e555-61.

22. Shah VS, Taddio A, Bennett S, Speidel BD. Neonatal pain response to heel stick vs venepuncture for routine blood sampling. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 1997;77(2):F143-4.

23. Carceller-Blanchard A, Cousineau J, Delvin EE. Point of care testing: transcutaneous bilirubinometry in neonates. Clin Biochem. 2009;42(3):143-9.

24. Engle WD, Jackson GL, Engle NG. Transcutaneous bilirubinometry. Semin Perinatol. 2014;38(7):438-51.

25. Hulzebos CV, Vitek L, Coda Zabetta CD, Dvořák A, Schenk P, van der Hagen EAE, et al. Diagnostic methods for neonatal hyperbilirubinemia: benefits, limitations, requirements, and novel developments. Pediatr Res. 2021;90(2):277-83.

26. Dionis I, Chillo O, Bwire GM, Ulomi C, Kilonzi M, Balandya E. Reliability of visual assessment of neonatal jaundice among neonates of black descent: a cross-sectional study from Tanzania. BMC Pediatr. 2021;21(1):383.

27. Sampurna MTA, Mapindra MP, Mahindra MP, Ratnasari KA, Rani SAD, Handayani KD, et al. Kramer Score, an Evidence of Its Use in Accordance with Indonesian Hyperbilirubinemia Published Guideline. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(11).

28. Riskin A, Tamir A, Kugelman A, Hemo M, Bader D. Is visual assessment of jaundice reliable as a screening tool to detect significant neonatal hyperbilirubinemia? J Pediatr. 2008;152(6):782-7, 7.e1-2.

29. van der Geest BAM, de Mol MJS, Barendse ISA, de Graaf JP, Bertens LCM, Poley MJ, et al. Assessment, management, and incidence of neonatal jaundice in healthy neonates cared for in primary care: a prospective cohort study. Sci Rep. 2022;12(1):14385.

30. Greco C, Arnolda G, Boo NY, Iskander IF, Okolo AA, Rohsiswatmo R, et al. Neonatal Jaundice in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: Lessons and Future Directions from the 2015 Don Ostrow Trieste Yellow Retreat. Neonatology. 2016;110(3):172-80.

31. Outlaw F, Nixon M, Odeyemi O, MacDonald LW, Meek J, Leung TS. Smartphone screening for neonatal jaundice via ambient-subtracted sclera chromaticity. PLoS One. 2020;15(3):e0216970.

32. Yan Q, Gong Y, Luo Q, Yin X, Yang L, Wang H, et al. Effects of a Smartphone-Based Out-of-Hospital Screening App for Neonatal Hyperbilirubinemia on Neonatal Readmission Rates and Maternal Anxiety: Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res. 2022;24(11):e37843.

33. Sachs J. The digital war on poverty. The Guardian. 2008.

34. Columbia SPS. Jeffrey D. Sachs; Advisory Board Member: Columbia SPS; [cited 2022 17.11]. Available from: <u>https://sps.columbia.edu/faculty/jeffrey-d-sachs-advisory-board-member</u>.

35. The World Bank. Mobile cellular subscriptions (per 100 people): The World Bank; [cited 2022 17.11]. Available from: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IT.CEL.SETS.P2</u>.

36. Kerstein A. How mobile phones help the poor: The Borgen Project; 2015 [Available from: https://borgenproject.org/mobile-phones-help-poor/.

37. Bergström A, Fottrell E, Hopkins H, Lloyd D, Stevenson O, Willats P, et al. mHealth: Can mobile technology improve health in low- and middle income countries? : University College London 2015 [cited 2022 18.11]. Available from: <u>https://www.ucl.ac.uk/public-policy/sites/public-policy/files/migrated-files/mhealth_briefing.pdf</u>.

38. Stewart C. mHealth - Statistics & Facts: Statista; 2021 [cited 2022 17.11].

39. World Health Organization. mHealth: new horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth. 2011.

40. World Health Organization. WHO Guideline - Recommendations of digital interventions for health system strengthening Geneva: World Health Organization; 2019 [cited 2022 17.11]. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311941/9789241550505-eng.pdf?ua=1</u>.

41. Robinson D. How mHealth devices are making healthcare more accessible and cheaper: NS Healthcare 2019 [cited 2022 17.11]. Available from: <u>https://www.ns-healthcare.com/analysis/mhealth-devices/</u>.

42. Abaza H, Marschollek M. mHealth Application Areas and Technology Combinations*. A Comparison of Literature from High and Low/Middle Income Countries. Methods Inf Med. 2017;56(7):e105-e22.

43. Aitken M, Nass D. Digital Health Trends 2021: Innovation, Evidence, Regulation and Adaption. IQVIA Institute for Human Data Science; 2021.

44. Precendence Research. mHealth Market (By Component: Apps and Wearables; By Application: Diagnosis, Monitoring, and Treatment; By Participants: Mobile Operators, Device Vendors, Content Players, Healthcare Providers) - Global Industry Analysis, Size, Share, Growth, Trends, Regional Outlook, and Forecast 2022 – 2030: Precendence Research; 2021 [cited 2022 13.12]. Available from: https://www.precedenceresearch.com/mhealth-market.

45. Wallis L, Blessing P, Dalwai M, Shin SD. Integrating mHealth at point of care in low- and middle-income settings: the system perspective. Glob Health Action. 2017;10(sup3):1327686.

46. McCool J, Dobson R, Whittaker R, Paton C. Mobile Health (mHealth) in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. Annu Rev Public Health. 2022;43(1):525-39.

47. Nsor-Anabiah S, Udunwa U, Malathi D. Review of the Prospects and Challenges of mHealth Implementation in Developing Countries. International Journal of Applied Engineering Research. 2019;14:2897-903.

48. Aune A, Vartdal G, Bergseng H, Randeberg LL, Darj E. Bilirubin estimates from smartphone images of newborn infants' skin correlated highly to serum bilirubin levels. Acta Paediatr. 2020;109(12):2532-8.

49. Picterus AS. Picterus - Instructions for Use Picterus AS; 2022 [cited 2022 13.12]. Available from: <u>https://picterus.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/IFU_en_5.0+s1.pdf</u>.

50. Díaz GJ. Validation of a new smartphone app to assess neonatal jaundice in a Mexican population [Master thesis]: NTNU; 2019.

51. Tusoy JB. A mHealth application as a screeningtool for neonatal jaundice in Filipino neonates: NTNU; 2022.

52. Taylor JA, Stout JW, de Greef L, Goel M, Patel S, Chung EK, et al. Use of a Smartphone App to Assess Neonatal Jaundice. Pediatrics. 2017;140(3).

53. Enweronu-Laryea C, Leung T, Outlaw F, Brako NO, Insaidoo G, Hagan-Seneadza NA, et al. Validating a Sclera-Based Smartphone Application for Screening Jaundiced Newborns in Ghana. Pediatrics. 2022;150(1).

54. Norway UNAo. Befolkningstall 2022 [Available from:

https://www.fn.no/Statistikk/befolkningstall.

55. Bank TW. GDP All Countries and Economies data.worldbank.org: The World Bank; [Available from: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/Ny.Gdp.Mktp.Cd?most_recent_value_desc=true</u>.

56. Chancel L, Piketty T, Saez E, Zucman G. The World Inequality Report 2022. 2021 2021.

57. Block MÁG, Morales HR, Hurtado LC, Balandrán A, Méndez E. Mexico Health System Review 2020. 2020.

58. The World Bank. The World by Income 2021 datatopics.worldbank.org: The World Bank [Available from: <u>https://datatopics.worldbank.org/world-development-indicators/the-world-by-income-and-region.html</u>.

59. The World Bank. GDP - Mexico data.worldbank.org: The World Bank; [Available from: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.MKTP.CD?end=2021&locations=MX&start=1961&view</u> <u>=chart.</u>

60. México D. México datamexico.org: Data México [Available from:

https://datamexico.org/en/profile/geo/mexico.

61. Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía. Población rural y urbana (Número de habitantes) 2021 [Available from:

http://dgeiawf.semarnat.gob.mx:8080/ibi_apps/WFServlet?IBIF_ex=D1_DEMOGRAF01_02_D&IBIC_user=dgeia_mce&IBIC_pass=dgeia_mce&NOMBREENTIDAD=*&NOMBREANIO=*.

62. GBD 2016 Healthcare Access and Quality Collaborators. Measuring performance on the Healthcare Access and Quality Index for 195 countries and territories and selected subnational

locations: a systematic analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet. 2018;391:2244.

63. Shvili J. The Poorest States In Mexico worldatlas.com: WorldAtlas; 2021 [updated 21.01.2021. Available from: <u>https://www.worldatlas.com/articles/the-poorest-states-in-mexico.html</u>.

64. Instituto Nacional de los Pueblos Indígenas. Población indígena en hogares y población que se considera afromexicana o afrodescendiente por entidad federativa, 2020. inpi.gob.mx: Instituto Nacional de los Pueblos Indígenas.

65. GBD 2016 Healthcare Access and Quality Collaborators. Supplement to: Measuring performance on the Healthcare Access and Quality Index for 195 countries and territories and selected subnational locations: a systematic analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. The Lancet 2018:161, 2.

66. J.Mendoza. Main types of health insurance in Mexico 2020: Statista; 2021 [cited 2022 05.12]. Available from: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/1044201/mexico-share-population-health-insurance-type/</u>.

67. The Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS). Conoce al IMSS: The Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS); [Available from: <u>http://www.imss.gob.mx/conoce-al-imss</u>.

68. The Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS). IMSS-Bienstar: The Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS); [Available from: <u>http://www.imss.gob.mx/imss-bienestar</u>.

69. The Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS). Programa IMSS-Bienestar: Municipios e infraestrucutra. The Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS).

70. The Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS). IMSS-Bienestar Infrastructura. The Mexican Institute of Social Security (IMSS).

71. Hulzebos CV, Vitek L, Coda Zabetta CD, Dvořák A, Schenk P, van der Hagen EAE, et al. Screening methods for neonatal hyperbilirubinemia: benefits, limitations, requirements, and novel developments. Pediatr Res. 2021;90(2):272-6.

72. CENETEC. Diagnóstico y Tratamiento de la Ictericia Guía de Práctica Clínica: Guía de Referencia Rápida:2019 18.11.2022. Available from: <u>http://imss.gob.mx/profesionales-salud/gpc</u>.

73. ISO. Ergonomics of human-system interaction — Part 11: Usability: Definitions and concepts: ISO; 2018 [Available from: <u>https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:9241:-11:ed-2:v1:en</u>.

74. dictionary C. Cambridge dictionary 2022 [cited 15.12.2022]. In: Utility [Internet]. [cited 15.12.2022]. Available from: <u>https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/utility</u>.

75. Zhou L, Bao J, Setiawan IMA, Saptono A, Parmanto B. The mHealth App Usability Questionnaire (MAUQ): Development and Validation Study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2019;7(4):e11500.

76. Data México. Oaxaca datamexico.org: Data México [cited 2022 07.11]. Available from: <u>http://www.imss.gob.mx/imss-bienestar</u>.

77. Data México. Santa Lucía del Camino: Data México; [cited 2022 07.11]. Available from: <u>https://datamexico.org/en/profile/geo/santa-lucia-del-camino</u>.

78. Data México. Tlacolula de Matamoros: Data México; [cited 2022 07.11]. Available from: <u>https://datamexico.org/en/profile/geo/tlacolula-de-matamoros</u>.

79. Amegan-Aho KH, Segbefia CI, Glover NDO, Ansa GA, Afaa TJ. Neonatal Jaundice: awareness, perception and preventive practices in expectant mothers. Ghana Med J. 2019;53(4):267-72.

80. Seneadza NAH, Insaidoo G, Boye H, Ani-Amponsah M, Leung T, Meek J, et al. Neonatal jaundice in Ghanaian children: Assessing maternal knowledge, attitude, and perceptions. PLoS One. 2022;17(3):e0264694.

81. Huang Y, Chen L, Wang X, Zhao C, Guo Z, Li J, et al. Maternal knowledge, attitudes and practices related to neonatal jaundice and associated factors in Shenzhen, China: a facility-based cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2022;12(8):e057981.

82. Moawad EMI, Abdallah EAA, Ali YZA. Perceptions, practices, and traditional beliefs related to neonatal jaundice among Egyptian mothers: A cross-sectional descriptive study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95(36):e4804.

Appendices to "Assessment of the user experience by parents of the novel mHealth technology Picterus to detect neonatal jaundice in a low-income setting in Mexico"

Appendix 1: The questionnaire



Picterus - Usability questionnaire

Which statement is the most correct?

1.	I have never heard about jaundice	
2.	I have heard about jaundice, but I am not sure what it is	-
3.	I have heard about jaundice and understand what it is	
4.	I am very familiar with jaundice	

Statements	Totally disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
1. The app was easy to use							
2. It was easy for me to learn how to use the app							
3. I like the design of the app							
4. I like what is shown on the app screen							
5. The information in the app was well-organised, which made it easy for met to find the information I needed							
6. The amount of time required to use the app has been adequate for me							
7. The app would be useful to assess the health and well- being of my baby							
8. The app can help me decide when to contact the doctor							
9. In general, I am satisfied with the app							
10. I would feel comfortable using the app on my baby							

Appendix 2: The information sheet

EXPERIENCIA DE LOS PADRES DE RECIÉN NACIDOS SOBRE EL USO DE UNA APLICACIÓN (APP) PARA TELEFONO CELULAR PARA LA DETECCIÓN DE ICTERICIA DEL RECIÉN NACIDO

¿Les gustaría participar en este proyecto? A continuación encontrarán más información del mismo.

¿De que se trata?

Somos estudiantes de medicina de la Universidad Noruega de Ciencia y Tecnología (NTNU) y estamos aquí para hacer nuestra tesis de maestría, la cual se trata de conocer la experiencia de los padres de recién nacidos al usar una aplicación ó app, para teléfono celular que se llama Picterus. Esta app se desarrolló en Noruega y sirve para detectar la ictericia en los bebés recién nacidos, es decir, cuando se ponen amarillos. Hasta ahora la app solo se ha usado en hospitales pero la idea es que en el futuro pueda ser usada por los padres en casa. Por tal razón en nuestro proyecto queremos conocer cuál es su opinión después de haber usado la app.

¿Qué es la ictericia del recién nacido y porqué es importante detectarla a tiempo?

La ictericia de los recién nacidos es muy frecuente y es secundaria al aumento de la bilirrubina en la sangre. Por lo general no tiene complicaciones pero en algunos casos, si la bilirrubina aumenta demasiado, puede ser peligrosa si no se detecta a tiempo provocando daño permanente en el cerebro. Normalmente los doctores o enfermeras detectan la ictericia observando la piel y los ojos del bebé. La intención de esta app es apoyar el personal de salud para mejorar la detección de esta condición y por lo tanto ofrecer el tratamiento adecuado a los bebés afectados.

Si ustedes tienen alguna duda o pregunta sobre la ictericia del recién nacido, puede preguntarle a su doctor o enfermera sobre el tema.

¿Quien es responsable de esto estudio?

La Universidad Noruega de Ciencia y Tecnología (NTNU) es responsable de este estudio

¿Porque los estamos invitando a ustedes a participar?

Dado que en este proyecto queremos conocer la opinión sobre el uso de la app de padres o futuros padres de recién nacidos, ustedes tienen las características delos participantes que necesitamos para este estudio.

Los estamos invitando a participar porque su bebé o usted son pacientes de la UMF 65 o del Hospital Rural 36 Tlacolula, que son los sitios incluidos en nuestro proyecto.

¿Cómo funciona la app Picterus?

La app funciona usando la c ámarqa del teléfono celular y una tarjeta de papel que se coloca en el pecho del bebé. Luego se toman fotos de la piel y se analiza el color para calcular la cantidad de bilirrubina.

¿Qué tendrían ustedes que hacer como parte de este proyecto?

Para nuestro estudio lo que queremos es que ustedes prueben esta app en una muñeca y contesten un cuestionario que durará no mas de 10 minutos, para conocer su opinión y experiencia al usarla.

Esto es voluntario y si decide no participar, no habrá ninguna consecuencia en la atención médica o el tratamiento para su bebé o usted.

¿Cómo tratamos los datos que recopilamos?

El cuestionario que le vamos a hacer no tiene preguntas sobre información personal confidencial. Se usará para mejorar el uso de la app y así poder ayudar a mas bebés en el futuro

¿ Como pueden ustedes encontrar mas información si tienen preguntas?

Pueden contactarnos por correo electrónico: Åsa Lerum, aasale@stud.ntnu.no Pueden también contactar la directora de proyecto Dra. Gabriela Jiménez Díaz en el correo electrónico gabriela@picterus.com

Si usted desea participar, por favor llene y firme el formulario en la siguiente página.

Appendix 3: The consent form

Formulario de consentimiento

He recibido y entendido la información sobre el proyecto "EXPERIENCIA DE LOS PADRES DE RECIÉN NACIDOS SOBRE EL USO DE UNA APLICACIÓN (APP) PARA TELEFONO CELULAR PARA LA DETECCIÓN DE ICTERICIA DEL RECIÉN NACIDO". Se me ha dado la oportunidad de preguntar sobre el proyecto y sobre el uso de las respuestas que proporcionaré.

Acepto participar en el proyecto probando la app en una muñeca y contestando el cuestionario.

(Nombre, firma y fecha)

Statement	Distribution of responses Urban total n=47 Rural total n=49								
	Disagree		Neutral		Agree				
	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rural			
1. The app was easy to use	6,4%	16.3%		2,0%	93,6%	81.6%			
	(n=3)	(n=8)		(n=1)	(n=44)	(n=40)			
2. It was easy for me to	4,2%	14.3%		8.2%	95,8%	77.6%			
learn how to use the app	(n=2)	(n=7)		(n=4)	(n=45)	(n=38)			
3. I like the design of the	-	6.1%	2,1%	6.1%	97,9%	87.7%			
app		(n=3)	(n=1)	(n=3)	(n=46)	(n=43)			
4. I like what is shown on	-	4.1%	2,1%	6.1%	97,9%	89.7%			
the app screen		(n=2)	(n=1)	(n=3)	(n=46)	(n=44)			
5. The information in the	4,2%	8.1%	2,1%	8.2%	93,7%	83.7%			
app was well-organised,	(n=2)	(n=4)	(n=1)	(n=4)	(n=44)	(n=41)			
which made it easy for me									
to find the information I									
needed 6. The amount of time	2,1%	12.2%		6.1%	97,9%	81.6%			
required to use the app has	(n=1)	(n=6)	-	(n=3)	(n=46)	(n=40)			
been adequate for me	(11-1)	(11-0)		(II-3)	(11-40)	(11-40)			
7. The app would be useful	2,1%	6.1%	-	-	97,9%	93.9%			
to assess the health and	(n=1)	(n=3)			(n=46)	(n=46)			
well-being of my baby		. ,				· · ·			
8. The app can help me	6,4%	6.1%	-	4.1%	93,6%	89.8%			
decide when to contact the	(n=3)	(n=3)		(n=2)	(n=44)	(n=44)			
doctor	4.00/	4.00/	0.10/	14.00/	02.70/	01 (0)			
9. In general, I am satisfied with the app	4,2%	4,0%	2,1% (n=1)	14.3%	93,7%	81.6%			
**	(n=2)	(n=2)	(11-1)	(n=7)	(n=44)	(n=40)			
10. I would feel	4,3%	2,0%	-	8.2%	95,7%	89.8%			
comfortable using the app on my baby	(n=2)	(n=1)		(n=4)	(n=45)	(n=44)			

Appendix 4: Distribution of responses regarding the user experience among the participants at the urban and the rural study sites



